
 
SENECA HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Lake Almanor Clinic (LAC) Conference Room, 199 Reynolds Road, Chester, CA 

June 29th, 2023 - at 3:00 p.m. 
 

 
1) Call to Order. In lieu of President, Jerri Nielsen’s, planned absence, Kenneth Crandall, 

Secretary, was the Chairperson of the Board Meeting. The Secretary called the meeting to 
order at 3:00pm 

 
2) Board Members Roll Call. The Secretary acknowledged the following Board Members as 

present/absent: 
• Jerri Nielsen, President, Present – Joined the Meeting via Zoom at 100 Boyes Blvd., 

Sonoma, CA  95476 / Ph: 925-324-4186 
• Kenneth Crandall, Secretary, Present 
• Sherrie Thrall, Vice-President, Present 
• Rich Randall, Treasurer, Present 
• Shelley Stelzner, Assistant Secretary-Treasurer, Present 

 
3)  Pledge of Allegiance was led by Kenneth Crandall at 3:01pm. 
 

Closed Session Announcement.   
The Board will meet in Closed Session pursuant to: 
 
a. Government Code §54956.9(d)(1)) Conference with Legal Counsel – Existing Litigation. 
     [Paragraph (1) of subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9]  
 Velez vs SHD - Case: DFEH #202110-15186025  

b. Government Code §54956.9(d)(1)) Conference with Legal Counsel – Existing Litigation. 
[Paragraph (1) of subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9]  
 Robles vs SHD - Case: #CV22-00177  

c. Health and Safety Code §32106 – Report(s) involving Trade Secrets.  
      

  4)  Public Comment(s) Period.  
       This is an opportunity for public attendees to address the Board regarding items which are not  
       on the agenda. Please state your name for the record. Comments are limited to three (3)    
       minutes. Written comments should be submitted to the Board Clerk 24 hours prior to the      
       meeting to allow for distribution. Under Government Code Section 54954.2 – Brown Act, the  
       Board cannot act on any item that is not listed on the agenda. The Board Chair may choose to      
       acknowledge the comment. When appropriate, the Board Chair may briefly answer a  
       question; refer the matter to staff; or move to set the item for discussion at a future meeting. 
 
   5)  The Board Responds to Public Comment(s). No public comments were submitted for  
         review to the Board. There were no attending or online members of the community with  
         comments or concerns.  
 
 
 
 
 
Agenda - Items Requiring Action: 



 
   
  6)  Approval of Board Meeting Minutes.        Tab A 

  The Board reviewed for approval, the Minutes of the May 25th, 2023, Regular Board  
  Meeting as submitted by Deborah Housen, Board Clerk.  
  Sherrie Thrall motioned to approve the Minutes as presented. Rich Rydell seconded the   
  motion. Motion approved by roll call vote. Shelley Stelzner: Aye; Kenneth Crandall: Aye; Rich   
  Rydell: Aye; Jerri Nielsen: Aye; Sherrie Thrall: Aye. 

 
  7)  Fire Sprinkler Subcontractor NTP to Boldt Bid.      Tab B 
   Board approval requested and presented by Donna Huntingdale, Building Rx. 

  Jerri Nielsen motioned to approve the Subcontractor as introduced by Boldt. Shelley Stelzner  
  seconded the motion. Motion approved by roll call vote. Shelley Stelzner: Aye; Kenneth   
  Crandall: Aye; Rich Rydell: Aye; Jerri Nielsen: Aye; Sherrie Thrall: Aye. 

    
  8)  Request for Special Board Meeting for July 12th, 2023 @ 1:00PM.   
       Board approval requested by Donna Huntingdale, Building Rx.  
       Shelley Stelzner motioned to approve the Special Board Meeting request. Sherrie Thrall  
       seconded the motion. Motion approved by roll call vote. Shelley Stelzner: Aye; Kenneth  
       Crandall: Aye; Rich Rydell: Aye; Jerri Nielsen: Aye; Sherrie Thrall: Aye. 
 
9)  Medical Staff Report.          

   The June 2023 Medical Staff Meeting was cancelled. The next Medical Staff Meeting will he  
   held on July 11th, 2023. A tallied vote (for the following medical staff) was collected via email  
   by JoAnn Mahloch, Medical Staff Coordinator. The tallied votes approved the appointed  
   medical staff. The medical staff (files) were signed off by Dr. Ware and Dr. Walls for Bill  
   Watson, MD, and Erin Munjar, RD. The medical staff (file) for Heather Smith, PA, was signed  
   off by Dr. Walls.  
     
    Initial Appointment Medical Staff: 
 Heather Smith, PA-C  Term: 7-3-2023 to 9-3-2025 – Sixty (60) days     

 
    Reappointment Medical Staff: 
 Bill Watson, MD Orthopedist   Term: 6-14-2023 to 6-14-2025 – Two (2) Years 
 Erin Munjar, RD  Term: 6-26-2023 to 6-26-2025  Term: Two (2) Years 
    

    Initial Allied Health Practitioner: N/A 
  
    Reappointment Allied Health Practitioner: N/A  
     

  Sherrie Thrall motioned to approve the Medical Staff Appointments as presented. Rich Rydell   
  seconded the motion. Motion approved by roll call vote. Shelley Stelzner: Aye; Kenneth  
  Crandall: Aye; Rich Rydell: Aye; Jerri Nielsen: Aye; Sherrie Thrall: Aye. 

     
   
 
 
 
10)    Policies and Procedures.          

   Due to cancellation of the June 2023 meeting, there were no Policy and Procedures  
   submitted by Charlene Almocera, RHIA CHC.   
   No action required from the Board.   



        
         11)  April 2023 Financial Report (in Draft Form).                   Tab C  
      Submitted for discussion and acceptance (draft form), the April 2023 Financial Report.  
                Presented by Steve Boline, CFO.  

     Rich Rydell motioned to approve the April 2023 Financial Report as presented in draft form.  
     Shelley Stelzner seconded the motion. Motion approved by roll call vote. Shelley Stelzner:  
     Aye; Kenneth Crandall: Aye; Rich Rydell: Aye; Jerri Nielsen: Aye; Sherrie Thrall: Aye. 

 
                                    
   Agenda items – Information only: 
 

12)  Healthcare Resource Group (HRG).        Tab D 
       Steve Boline, CFO, will present HRG’s May 2023 Summary Report. 
 
13)  SPT New Critical Access Hospital (CAH) Report Updates / EMS Helicopter Landing  
       Site Information.           Tab E 
       Presented by Donna Huntingdale, Building, Rx.  
 
14)  CEO Report.           Tab F 
       Presented by Shawn McKenzie, CEO. 
 
15)  CNO Report.           Tab G 
       Presented by Judith Cline, CNO. 
 
16)  Departmental Documents/Reports.                 Tab H 

a. Compliance – Charlene Almocera, HIM Director – No report submitted.  
b. IT/Clinical Informatics – TK Trumpf, IT Director – No report submitted.  
c. Human Resources Job List & Newsletter – Corie Howe, HR Assistant – Report  
       submitted. 
d. Marketing/PR – Chelssa Outland, PR Manager – Report submitted. 

 
17)  Closed Session.  

            The Board adjourned to Closed Session at 5:06pm. 
      
    The Regular Board Meeting reconvened at 5:59pm 
 
    18)  Report on Closed Session. The Secretary stated there were no actions taken to report. 
 
    19)  Next Regular Board Meeting Announcement.       
 

• Date:  July 27th, 2023 
• Time:  3:00 p.m. 
• Location: LAC-Conference Room  

 
  The Regular Board Meeting concluded at 6:00pm. 



SENECA HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS SPECIAL BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Lake Almanor Clinic (LAC) Conference Room, 199 Reynolds Road, Chester, CA 
July 12th, 2023 - at 1:00 p.m. 

 
 

1) Call to Order. The Board President, Jerri Nielsen, called the Special Board Meeting to order at 
1:01pm. 

 
2) Board Members Roll Call. The President acknowledged the following Board Members as 

present/absent: 
• Jerri Nielsen, President, Present  
• Sherrie Thrall, Vice-President, Present 
• Kenneth Crandall, Secretary, Present 
• Rich Randall, Treasurer, Present 
• Shelley Stelzner, Assistant Secretary-Treasurer, Present 

 
3)  Pledge of Allegiance was conducted by Jerri Nielsen, President at 1:01pm. 
 

Closed Session Announcement.   
The Board was scheduled to meet in Closed Session pursuant to: 
a. Health and Safety Code §32106 – Report(s) involving Trade Secrets. 

  This action was not conducted due to a last-minute change in the Special Board Meeting  
  Agenda. Grant Obrach of BBK Law Office stated the subject matter was approved for 
  discussion in Open Session.  

      
  4)  Public Comment(s) Period.  
       This is an opportunity for public attendees to address the Board regarding items which are not  
       on the agenda. Please state your name for the record. Comments are limited to three (3)    
       minutes. Written comments should be submitted to the Board Clerk 24 hours prior to the      
       meeting to allow for distribution. Under Government Code Section 54954.2 – Brown Act, the  
       Board cannot act on any item that is not listed on the agenda. The Board Chair may choose to      
       acknowledge the comment. When appropriate, the Board Chair may briefly answer a  
       question; refer the matter to staff; or move to set the item for discussion at a future meeting. 
 
   5)  The Board Responds to Public Comment(s). No requests for public comments were  
         submitted to the Board. No present or online community members had any questions for the  
         Board. 
 
 
Agenda - Items Requiring Action: 
 
 6)  Closed Session.  

           The Board did not adjourn to Closed Session, as noted at the start of the meeting. 
 
     7)   Report on Closed Session. The President indicated there would be no reporting on Closed  
           Session, as it was not implemented in the meeting. 
 
      
     8)   New CAH/SNF Licensed Timber Operator Selection.     Tab A 
           Presented for review and approval by Donna Huntingdale, Building Rx.  



           Due to language discrepancies in the document, this item was tabled to an additional 
           Special Board Meeting scheduled for Tuesday, July 18th, 2023, to commence at 3:00pm. 

        The Board, the CEO, Shawn McKenzie, Donna Huntingdale, Building Rx, and Grant Orbach  
        of BBK Law Offices – all agreed to the Special Board Meeting, as noted. 
  
  9)   May 2023 Financial Report (in Draft Form).                   Tab B       
        Submitted for discussion and acceptance (draft form), the May 2023 Financial Report.  

              Presented by Steve Boline, CFO. 
              The Board agreed to table this report to be reviewed for acceptance at the Special Board  
              Meeting on July 18th at 3:00pm 
               
 
       Agenda items – Information only: 
 
       It was noted at the end of session that the Groundbreaking Ceremony would be discussed at     
       the Special Board Meeting on July 18th, 2023. 
 

     10)  Next Special Board Meeting Announcement.       
 

• Date:  July 18th, 2023 
• Time:  3:00 p.m. 
• Location: LAC-Conference Room  

 
  
     11)  Next Regular Board Meeting Announcement.       
 

• Date:  July 27th, 2023 
• Time:  3:00 p.m. 
• Location: LAC-Conference Room  

 
        
        The Special Board Meeting adjourned at 1:09pm. 

 
 
 
 



SENECA HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS SPECIAL BOARD MEETING MINUTES  

Lake Almanor Clinic (LAC) Conference Room, 199 Reynolds Road, Chester, CA 
July 18th, 2023 - at 3:00 p.m. 

 
 

1) Call to Order. The Board President, Jerri Nielsen, called the Special Board Meeting to order at 
3:00pm. 

 
2) Board Members Roll Call. The President acknowledged the following Board Members as 

present/absent: 
• Jerri Nielsen, President, Present  
• Sherrie Thrall, Vice-President, Present 
• Kenneth Crandall, Secretary, Present 
• Rich Randall, Treasurer, Present 
• Shelley Stelzner, Assistant Secretary-Treasurer, Present 
 

3)  Pledge of Allegiance was led by President, Jerri Nielsen, at 3:01pm. 
 

Closed Session Announcement.   
CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—ANTICIPATED LITIGATION                    
Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) or (3) of subdivision (d) of Section 
§54956.9: One Case.      

  4)  Public Comment(s) Period.  
       This is an opportunity for public attendees to address the Board regarding items which are not  
       on the agenda. Please state your name for the record. Comments are limited to three (3)    
       minutes. Written comments should be submitted to the Board Clerk 24 hours prior to the      
       meeting to allow for distribution. Under Government Code Section 54954.2 – Brown Act, the  
       Board cannot act on any item that is not listed on the agenda. The Board Chair may choose to      
       acknowledge the comment. When appropriate, the Board Chair may briefly answer a  
       question; refer the matter to staff; or move to set the item for discussion at a future meeting. 
 
   5)  The Board Responds to Public Comment(s). There were no public comments or concerns 
         presented to the Board.  
 
         During this time space, a video was shared with the Board and online Zoom viewers. The   
         video demonstrated a “fly through” (presented via virtual imagery) of how the NEW Seneca  
         Healthcare District Hospital will appear upon completion of the build. Board members  
         expressed appreciation of the video, noting it was very well done, and clearly showed the  
         entirety of the exterior of the new campus. The video is available to the public on Seneca  
         Healthcare District’s Website at: https://senecahospital.org/new-hospital-build-campaign/ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Agenda - Items Requiring Action: 

https://senecahospital.org/new-hospital-build-campaign/


 
 6)  May 2023 Financial Report (in Draft Form).                    Tab A       
      Submitted for discussion and acceptance (draft form), the May 2023 Financial Report.  

            Presented by Steve Boline, CFO. Discussion also occurred regarding the FY 2023-2024  
            budget. Steve Boline will make a recommendation at the next meeting for interim tracking of  
            regular revenues/expenses until the formal budget is drafted and adopted. This will occur after  
            deadlines are met for submitting detailed information required for the new hospital build  
            funding. There are no major changes in revenues or expenses anticipated before a budget is  
            adopted. It was also noted that the June 2023 Financial Report (draft form) will be added to  
            the Agenda of the July 27th, 2023, Regular Board Meeting. 

 Rich Rydell motioned to accept the May 2023 Financial Report as presented. Kenneth   
 Crandall seconded the motion. Motion approved by roll call vote. Shelley Stelzner: Aye;   
 Kenneth Crandall: Aye; Rich Rydell: Aye; Aye; Sherrie Thrall: Aye Jerri Nielsen. 
 

 7)  Consideration of Award of Contract to Almanor Tree Removal as Lowest Responsible    
      Bidder for SHD Replacement CAH/SNF.       Tab B 

Donna Huntingdale of Building Rx, and Grant Orbach of BBK Law Offices, requested 
authorization be granted to the Seneca Healthcare District (SHD) CEO or designee, to award 
the contract for the Licensed Timber Operator at the site of the SHD replacement Critical 
Access Hospital (CAH) and the Skilled Nursing Facility (SNF) to Almanor Tree Removal as the 
lowest responsible, responsive bidder. Subject to and only upon completion of all approvals 
and processes as required by the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). 
Sherrie Thrall motioned to grant the authorization as presented. Rich Rydell seconded the 
motion. Motion approved by roll call vote. Shelley Stelzner: Aye; Kenneth Crandall: Aye; Rich 
Rydell: Aye; Sherrie Thrall: Aye Jerri Nielsen: Aye. 

                                       
8)  Closed Session.  

          The Board adjourned to Closed Session at 4:15pm. 
 
    The Special Board Meeting was reconvened at 4:41pm. 
 
    9)   Report on Closed Session. The President stated there were no reportable actions taken  
          during the Closed Session. 
 
  10)   Next Regular Board Meeting Announcement.       
 

• Date:  July 27th, 2023 
• Time:  3:00 p.m. 
• Location: LAC-Conference Room  

 
     11)  The Groundbreaking Ceremony information was announced. It will be held at the new  
            hospital build site on July 26th, 2023, from 9:00am to 11:00am. 
 
 
      The Special Board Meeting ended at 4:42pm. 



DESIGNATED GOVERNMENTAL UNIT CHARITABLE IMPACT FUND 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

THE ALMANOR 
FOUNDATION AND 

SENECA HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is made effective August 1, 2023, by and between THE ALMANOR 
FOUNDATION (the "Foundation"), and SENECA HEALTHCARE DISTRICT (the 
"Organization"). 

 
WHEREAS, the Organization is a California Special District organized under the Local Health 
Care District Law as set forth in the Health and Safety Code of the State of California and desires 
to create a Designated Governmental Unit Charitable Impact Fund for enhancing charitable 
contributions to it; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Foundation is a California public benefit nonprofit corporation exempt from 
taxation under Internal Revenue Code section 501(c)(3) and is an appropriate organization 
within which to establish such a charitable fund. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the Foundation 
is willing and able to create this fund as a Designated Governmental Unit Charitable Impact Fund, 
subject to the following terms and conditions: 

 
 

1. NAME OF THE FUND. There is hereby established in the Foundation, and as a part 
thereof, a fund designated as the Seneca Build Fund ("Fund") to receive and administer gifts in 
whatever form of money or property. 

 
2. PURPOSE. The primary purpose of this fund is to enhance the charitable contributions 
to the Organization through the Foundation website and provide an opportunity for donations 
to be made online with credit cards. 

 
3. GIFTS. Subject to the right of the Foundation to reject any particular gift, any person 
whether an individual or organization ("Donors") may make gifts to the Foundation for the 
purposes of the Fund by a transfer to the Foundation of property acceptable to the Foundation. 
Gifts are defined as property contributed by Donors without any tangible benefit received in 
return for the gifts. All such gifts to this Fund are irrevocable once accepted by the Foundation 
and will be acknowledged by the Foundation as charitable contributions in accordance with 
Internal Revenue Service requirements. 

 
4. DISTRIBUTIONS FROM THE FUND. The Fund balance, net of the fees and expenses set 
forth in paragraph 9, shall be made directly to t he  Organization at least quarterly. At the 
end of each quarter, Foundation will distribute the balance in the Fund that exceeds $100. No 
other distributions shall be made on behalf of the Organization unless specifically agreed to in 
writing by Foundation. Should Organization's status be suspended for failure to comply with 
federal or California laws, distributions shall be suspended until proof of compliance is provided 
to Foundation. 

 
5. ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the 
Fund and all operations related thereto shall be subject to the provisions of applicable federal and 
California laws governing nonprofit organizations as well as the Foundation's Articles of 
Incorporation and Bylaws as amended from time to time. The Fund is subject to the Foundation's 
governing instruments including the Foundation's power to modify any restriction or condition 



on the distribution of funds for any specified charitable purposes or to specified charitable 
purposes or to specified organizations if in the sole judgment of the Foundation Board of Directors 
such restriction or condition becomes, in effect, unnecessary, incapable of fulfillment, or 
inconsistent with the charitable needs of the community or area served. This power of 
modification is referred to as the variance power. 

 
6. TERMINATION. This agreement is for the period August 1, 2023, through August 31, 
2024. Parties will meet each subsequent year to discuss markup to the contract prior to each additional 
contracted timeframe.  The Fund shall continue so long as assets are available in the Fund and the 
purposes of the Fund can be served by its continuation. The Fund may be terminated by either 
the Foundation or Fund Advisor upon thirty (30) days written notice. Should the Organization be 
dissolved or go out of business, any fund balance remaining may be designated by the 
Organization to another charitable organization. Otherwise, the variance power provided in 
Paragraph 5 shall apply.  Should the Foundation be dissolved or go out of business, all monies in 
the Fund shall be transferred to the Organization prior to dissolution. 

 
7. NOT A SEPARATE TRUST. The Fund shall be a component part of the Foundation. All 

money and property in the Fund shall be held as general assets of the Foundation and not 
segregated as separate trust. However, the receipts and disbursements of this Fund shall be 
accounted for separately and apart from those of other funds held by the Foundation. 

 
8. INVESTMENT OF FUNDS. The Foundation shall have all powers necessary, or in its 
sole discretion desirable, to carry out the purposes of the Fund, including, but not limited to, the 
power to retain, invest, and reinvest the Fund and the power to commingle the assets of the Fund 
with those of other funds for investment purposes. Based on the intent of this Fund it is 
understood and agreed that monies will be invested as cash or cash equivalents. There are no 
earnings or returns on such investments to the Fund. 

 
9. COSTS OF THE FUND. The Foundation shall collect fees as prescribed by Exhibit A 
hereto attached. 

 
10. FUND ADVISOR. Organization hereby designates Steve Boline, Jerri Nielsen, Shawn 
McKenzie, and Chelssa Outland as the Fund Advisors who are responsible for communicating 
with Foundation. The Fund Advisors contact information has been provided to Foundation. The 
Fund Advisors are responsible for notifying the Foundation of any changes to their contact 
information. The Board of Directors of Seneca Healthcare District has the authority to modify or 
terminate this Agreement.  The Foundation shall provide all available donor information to the 
Organization at least quarterly, and immediately upon request. 

 
11. ACCOUNTING PROCEDURE. The money held in the Fund is owned by the Organization. 
At the end of Foundation's fiscal year (December 31), Foundation will show the balance in 
the fund as an asset but will also show it as a liability to the Organization. Distributions from 
the Fund will be accompanied by a statement showing income and expenses of the Fund to be 
recorded on the books of Organization. The balance in the Fund at the year-end of Organization 
shall be shown as an asset of the Organization. 
 
12. NOFICATION OF CERTAIN FUNDS RECEIVED. Foundation shall make the Fund Advisors 
aware of any donations over $5,000 within 24 hours of receiving the donation.  

 
 
 
 



 
 
 

13. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 
A. This Agreement may be amended by written mutual consent of the Organizations Board of 
Directors and the Foundation. Successor Fund Advisors may be designated in writing by the 
Organization through submission of the successor name and contact information to the 
Foundation. 

 
B. The Foundation shall be responsible for initial thank you letters, emails or call for all donations 
made through the foundation. Thank you letters and email templates shall be approved by a Fund 
Advisor. All changes to the donor letters shall be approved by a Fund Advisor. 
 
C. All activities including meetings or events convened to raise monies for this Fund are 
done so under the personal liability, risk and control of the Organization unless specifically 
approved by the Foundation in advance. in writing, and in compliance with all provisions of this 
Agreement. 

 
D. The Fund Advisor signing this Agreement confirms to Foundation that she/he is authorized 
to act as Fund Advisor under the terms of this Agreement and enter into this Agreement by the 
Board of Directors of Organization. 

 
E. This Agreement shall be governed by California law. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
FUND FEE SCHEDULE 

 
The Foundation shall charge a fee on each gift made to the Fund based upon the following fee 
schedule. 
 
Cash Donations: Cash donations tracking, reporting and distribution require little administrative 
work, therefore there will be no fee for collection of cash donations.  Seneca will provide a one-time 
yearly donation to support the infrastructure necessary to meet the requirements of the 
administrative overhead of the foundation in managing cash donations.  This donation will be 
negotiated annually.  TAF will provide detailed information to support initial and subsequent 
annual fee requirements. 
 
Real Estate/Property: 

• One time 2% of the tax assessed value at the time of giving. 
 
Stocks and Market Equities 

• One-time 2% of the value at the time of transference. 

Endowments 
• One-time 2% fee of the first installment only. 

 
 
If in the event the Organization wishes to use the Foundation resources for event planning, event 
work and event supplies, Foundation will submit to the Organization an estimated Scope of Work 
(SOW) document outlining the proposed costs for the event.  The actual costs will be tracked by 
Foundation and submitted to the Organization.  The Organization will pay Foundation from the 
Fund the actual costs of the event.   
 
Any costs to the Foundation in accepting, transferring, or managing non-cash property donated to 
the Foundation for the Fund shall also be paid from the Fund in accordance with the fee schedule 
above.  These costs will be defined and provided to the Organization for review and approval prior 
to the Foundation accepting the non-cash property. 
 
Fees for credit card processing should be considered in the calculation for the administrative work 
for accepting cash donations.  These fees will be included in the yearly one-time donation as defined 
above.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

The Fund Advisor has executed this Agreement on behalf of Organization and the Foundation 
has approved it as indicated by the signatures below. 

 
 
 
  The Almanor Foundation     Seneca Healthcare District 
           “Foundation”                  “Organization” 
 
 
 X______________________________________________   X______________________________________________ 
 
 Signature           Title   Signature           Title 
 
 
 Printed Name: _______________________   Printed Name: _______________________ 
 
 
 Date: _____________      Date: _____________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



























































































































































































































SPT Report to the SHD Board
7/27/2023

SWIMLANES SUBCATEGORIES General Summary Updates

General / SHD 

approval

For compliance with CEQA (state) environmental 

requirements, an environmental review is required to 

evaluate project followed by approval of the GPA/RZ 

and LAFCO (see below).  Sequoia Environmental is the 

consultant that has been contracted to lead this 

process.  SHD has been identified as the lead agency for 

the CEQA review/approval. COMPLETE

GPA/Rezone

This application has been submitted to the Plumas 

County Planning

COMPLETE

LAFCO Annexation

LAFCO approval of annexation of project parcel to 

CPUD for fire/water/sewer needs to follow Board of 

Supervisors' approval of the General Plan 

Amendment/Rezone.

LAFCO approved annexation at 7/17/23.

COMPLETE

NEPA For anticipated USDA financing (see below), an 

environmental review is required to evaluate project 

compliance with NEPA (federal) requirements.  Sequoia 

Environmental is the consultant that has been 

contracted to lead this process.  USDA is identified as 

the lead agency for the NEPA review/approval.

Environmental Assessment (EA) NEPA document was 

approved for noticing/public comment that ran 7/7 to 

7/21.  At time of preparing this update to the BOD, no 

comments have been received nor are expected.  USDA 

will need to approve this document prior to site 

activities beginning.

EMS Helicopter Landing 

Site

Emergency Medical Services Helicopter Landing Site 

(HLS) in lieu of a full Heliport is being investigated for 

transport of patients as needed to nearby hospital 

partners.  The size and infrastructure for the HLS will be 

such that a Heliport approval could potentially be 

pursued in the future if desired.

FlightCare pilot from Enloe Medical Center completed a  

fly over to give feedback on what is needed to ensure 

HLS is feasible, indicating that to be the case.  Shawn 

has had conversation with Division of Aeronautics to 

best understand the parameters of the HLS.  We are 

working now with Boldt/HGA to ensure inset lights, 

fencing, and lighted windsock & beacon on rooftop is 

incorporated appropriately into the design.

CEQA

SPT Report to the SHD Board

7/27/2023

Page 1 of 5



Harvest Plan

Sierra Timber Services (STS) has been retained to 

prepare a Timber Harvesting Plan (THP) and associated 

Timberland Conversion permit (TCP).  This is needed in 

order to clear trees as needed for the development, 

and will also be a component of the CEQA/NEPA 

analysis. 

CALFIRE has approved Timber Conversion Plan and 

Timber Harvest Plan, and we are set to have STS 

perform onsite post-approval supervision of tree 

removal, filing of completion reports, Water Quality 

Monitoring.  

Additionally, dust control plan approval through 

NSAQMD is being reviewed to address that required 

mitigation management.

As approved at the 7/18 BOD meeting, Almanor Tree 

Removal has been awarded the contract for tree and 

stump removal.  A coordination meeting was held 7/19 

including LTO, biologist (who found no active nests nor 

any sensitive plant species onsite), geotech/earthwork 

observation representative, STS, Boldt, and SHD 

representation.  A pre-construction site meeting is 

scheduled for 7/25 at 3pm.  Work is anticipated to 

complete within 5 weeks.

Wildwood Easement

There is a potential need for easement across the SW 

corner of Wildwood in order to properly access the new 

site.  Communications are ongoing with Wildwood for 

that and for an easement for emergency access only 

through the North-most drive of Wildwood.  

No update from 6/29 BOD meeting re the existing 

easement.  The easement approved by both SHD & 

PCCDC for potential work at Wildwood's SW corner for 

main access from Reynolds Rd to the planned new 

facility has been recorded.  Design-Build Entity may 

have an alternate/more cost-effective solution but if 

that is the case we can later record a retraction of the 

easement.

The previously-discussed potential secondary 

emergency access/egress at the North (Meadow Lane) 

is not anticipated to be needed at this time...site plans 

have been submitted to the County with alternate 

secondary access/egress behind the clinic to 

Brentwood.

SPT Report to the SHD Board

7/27/2023

Page 2 of 5



Financing

USDA Financing

A loan is being pursued from USDA to provide revenue-

supported financing for the project.

We continue to work with USDA to get all questions 

answered, Financial Feasibility Study updated, and PAR 

finalized.  We have committed to USDA to get FFS to 

the local office by 8/4 so that recommendations can go 

to national office by 8/14 for a 9/30 funding deadline.

Other Funding

Anticipating a combination of state/federal funds, 

Philanthropy and public support.

The Application for Federal Community Project Funding 

for a Medical Equipment package was denied.  We will 

keep this application on the radar for next year.

No update from 6/29 BOD meeting on SB395 and 

Philanthropy.  SHD has applied for SB395 funding for 

reimbursement for the fee associated with 

development of the Criteria Documents ($280k).  We 

are awaiting feedback on the application.  There will be 

future additional opportunities to apply for future 

funding under this legislature as well. 

Philanthropy discussions ongoing.  Final architectural 

renderings have been completed and donor packets are 

being developed.

Schedule

Design-Build Entity Validation Phase Schedule provided 

for 1/26/23 meeting.  Construction completing 

11/25/25, first patient Q1 2026.

The schedule is fully dependent upon maximizing 

timber removal and grading/site work during the 

summer of 2023 and resuming building construction 

Spring of 2024.  The effect of the delay of USDA/NEPA 

has been evaluated by Boldt such that if we are not 

able to proceed with grading/site work this year, 1st 

patient pushes from Q1 2026 to Q3 2026.  We are 

working diligently to avoid this.

SPT Report to the SHD Board

7/27/2023

Page 3 of 5



Budget

Design-Build Entity Validation Phase cost model 

provided for 1/26/23 meeting.  Project budget at 

$72M.

Construction costs have been validated at $55.5M by 

the Design-Build Entity leading to an overall Project 

Cost (including soft costs) of $72M.    

Note that excluded from these costs is the construction 

of the Support Services building for which the team is 

looking at cost efficiencies to have that done by a metal 

building company.  

Design Documentation

The Boldt Company with HGA Architects have been 

contracted as the project Design-Build Entity (DBE). 

We have gotten work from Plumas County that grading 

package is approved, and we await formal 

documentation around that.  CPUD has given approval 

on water & sewer, and we are working with them for 

review of fire control/access.  Nonetheless, we expect 

to be ready to obtain permit and start grading after 

tree removal.  Interiors design has moved into 

Construction Documents, and Core & Shell designs 

remain with HCAI for 1st review.  Building design 

interiors will go to HCAI in Nov/Dec.

Medical Equipment 

Planning

Contract has been executed with Ross & Baruzzini 

(R&B), changing company name to Introba, for Medical 

Equipment Planning & Procurement services.  They will 

be involved in the project through procurement with a 

decision at a later point if they will also provide 

installation management (cost defined within their 

contract as a potential additional service).

We continue to work with Introba to determine the 

path to vendor selection.  They will be proceeding ASAP 

with setting up vendor meetings for architecturally-

significant equipment followed by RFPs from which SHD 

will be able to select the appropriate vendors.

Ground-breaking 

Ceremony

A ground-breaking ceremony is being planned prior to 

the tree removal phase of the project. Scheduled for 7/26, 9-11am

Boldt Contract GMP 

timing

Due to timing of bidding during the busy Summer 

months, bid coverage has been very light, leading to 

recommendation to the BOD to push GMP 

development to end of Construction Documents.

Planned for discussion within the "For Approval" 

section of the BOD meeting.

Design

Construction

SPT Report to the SHD Board

7/27/2023

Page 4 of 5



Site Construction 

Contract

There are ongoing discussions as to whether the site 

construction scope-of-work will need to be contracted 

direct to SHD due to inability to comply with Skilled & 

Trained workforce requirements under the Boldt 

contract.

Boldt has bid to over 50 site subcontractors over much 

of Northern CA & Reno finding no available subs that 

also meet the Skilled & Trained State Design-Build 

workforce requirements.  As a result, with the aim at 

getting grading started immediately after tree removal, 

SHD Legal is facilitating a direct bid to potential site 

subcontractors, with SHD Legal and Boldt Legal are 

working through the details of this modification to 

Boldt's contract.

SPT Report to the SHD Board

7/27/2023

Page 5 of 5



July 27, 2023 
 

Seneca Healthcare Board of Directors Meeting 
CEO Report 

 
Monthly Updates: 
 
New Hospital Build Effort: 
As of the preparation of this report, Seneca is waiting on final NEPA approval from the USDA.  The final 
day for public comment is Friday, July 21.  To date no public comment has been received clearing the 
way for NEPA completion.  The timber harvest start is dependent on completion of the NEPA 
requirements.   
 
Dialog continues with the USDA as it pertains to our funding application.  Meetings have continued to 
ensure the USDA can fully vet our financials and build costs.  These meetings and iterations of 
documents continue as we work to secure USDA funding for the project. 
 
Our ground-breaking ceremony is scheduled for Wednesday, July 26th (yesterday).  The plan is to have 
the Licenced Timber Operator (LTO) commence work immediately following the ceremony, but this 
work activity is dependent on the NEPA completion.  If NEPA is not completed, the ground breaking will 
be ceremonial with timber harvest following as quickly on the heals of the ceremony upon NEPA 
approval.  The project schedule for the remainder of 2023 is dependent on the ability to complete the 
timber harvest in the next 4-6 weeks. 
 
Chelssa has posted the video rendering of the new facility here.  This video accurately depicts the new 
facility including color pallettes and exterior materials.  This is an excellent video and open to share with 
anyone interested in getting a good look at the new facility. 
 
 
Legislative updates: 
Several bills have been introduced into the legislator that will be tracked by Seneca and our advocacy 
associations.  The most pressing are two (2) specifically impactful bills to watch carefully. 

1. AB 869 Seismic– The bill was heard in the Senate Health Committee – no transcription available– 
Continue tracking 

2. SB 525 – Amended in the Assembly -  July 3, 2023.  Continue tracking 
 
 
Seneca Campus updates: 
 
Campus upgrades with the exception of the continued effort in the LTC will be stopped, or severely 
scrutinized as we focus our attention on the new facility build.  We might bid the clinic “boneyard” on 
the second floor of the clinic to see what the cost would be for space use infill.   
 
 

https://senecahospital.org/new-hospital-build-campaign/


July 27, 2023 
 
Physician & Mid-level Recruitment Update: 
Site Visit Interview with Bill McGinnis, FNP is tentatively scheduled for August 6th  
Site Visit Interviw with Dr. Wang being scheduled 
Several recruiter submissions are being vetted with the recruiter – interviews to follow 
 
Dr. Russo is returning to Seneca August 7th for a five (5) month LOCUM position.  This is a return to 
Seneca and we will be discussing a permanent option during his assignment. 
 
 
Seneca Healthcare Campus Upgrades:  
LTC renovation continues 
Potential bid process for the upstairs “boneyard” location at the clinic. 



        JULY 2023 

Seneca Healthcare District Board of Directors Meeting 

CNO Report 

COVID and Other Public Health Updates: 

Plumas County COVID-19 By the Numbers: 

• CDC now recommends that counties use COVID-19 hospital admission levels to guide 
prevention decisions. Currently the Plumas County COVID-19 hospital admission level = 
LOW.  Still seeing COVID cases in our community. 

CDC COVID-19 Hospital Admission 
Levels 

Seneca Masking Requirements 

LOW Masking is not required. Admission COVID testing not 
required (unless patient to be admitted exhibits s/s of 

COVID). SHD COVID testing for outpatient 
endoscopies/colonoscopies will follow the Hospital 

Admission Level guidelines.  
SHD will continue pre-procedure COVID testing for 

general surgery. 
 

Bat Exposures: 

Summer is here and the bats have returned! Some patients have qualified for the rabies series 
due to potential bat exposures.  

Cerner Project: 

Cerner implementation has been with a variety of issues, but daily progress is being made. 

Physicians are doing well overall with their documentation, and we are monitoring several 
measures as they relate to regulatory activity (“Promoting Interoperability”): 

1. Electronic prescribing—do better than expected (per Cerner) 
2. Query of Prescription Drug Monitoring Program:  ED = OK, Observation status = volume 

too low 
3. Provide Patients Electronic Access to their Health Information = Excellent  
4. Continued work on Health Information Exchange interface (SacValley Medshare). 

 
 



Nursing Recruitment & Retention: 

Seneca LVN on Acute floor just passed her NCLEX and is now a new-grad Seneca RN. 

Three students remain enrolled in the CNA course, and we will be receiving financial assistance 
(Butte Training Place) for any of those who are retained as full-time Seneca employees 90 days 
post course. 

New-grad LVN hired for LTC. Will receive 50% reimbursement through AFWD following 90 days 
of employment. 

New Critical Access Hospital: 

Working on interior finishes, “Mall” specialty walls, furniture, and medical equipment selection 
(among many other details!). 

Regulatory Updates: 

On 6/28/23, the Board of Pharmacy arrived for an anticipated survey of our new Pyxis systems. 
We are required to license all automated drug dispensing machines. The pharmacist surveyor 
had several recommendations to bring our drug room in line with new regulations. Seneca 
clinical leadership has been meeting with our pharmacists to develop new workflows to be 
following these regulations. Two of our nurses are working on certification as pharmacy 
technicians in an effort to comply. 

On 7/12/23, a CDPH surveyor arrived for an unannounced abbreviated standard survey for one 
facility report incident—LTC resident fall. The incident was rapidly closed with no findings. 

Upcoming survey: anticipating an unannounced standard survey with CDPH soon. Seneca LTC 
filed a misconduct report related to a travel CNA abandoning her duties mid-shift. Her contract 
was immediately terminated.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

Judy Cline, MSN, RN, PHN 

Chief Nursing Officer 

 

 

 























Marketing Report 
 

Current Projects Update July 2023 
Seneca won first place in this year’s 4th of July Parade!  

• New Build Campaign /Philanthropy 
 Donor Tree/Heavy Timber 

 Waiting to hear more information/confirmation from Collins on what timbers they 
will mill. They have let us know which ones they are not able to help with.  

 Continuing tracking donations and what donors will be eligible for bricks and leaves. Working 
with the Build Team on the possible design of this wall.  

 Donor Brief: waiting on final edits then we will sent to the printer  
 New Build Video: Working to utilize the new build video and share with the public 

through several different medias  
 Groundbreaking Ceremony: Finalizing details for the groundbreaking ceremony for 

7/26/23.  
 This event is taking a lot of time and planning and has been a priority item for 

marketing  
• General Marketing 

 Radio Ads: New radio ads being completed to start rotation for august.  
 LACC Newsletter - Continual updates are released and ads in the LACC, we are also advertising in 

the highlife magazine.  
 Highlife magazine – new ad is being finalized for August.   
 MVL Magazine – quarterly ads are going out with them, and we also have a banner ad on 

their website. Ads have been finalized for the fall season  
 Phonebook: working on phone book information for next year.  
 Ravenlight Productions: The first video is complete has been added to our website, it will start 

airing at the theatres in Susanville in August.  
 Addition meeting with Ravenlight scheduled to talk about possible next projects.  

 Website Updates 
 New Page for RFPS add to website for publishing/legal requirements  
 The Leadership page has been updated and current terms and images have been 

added.  
 Provider Recruitment Page -The recruitment page is in progress and once the PD 

and further information is gathered it will go live.  
 

• Provider Recruitment 
 Working on back-end website updates, and position description updates as well as scheduling 

social media posts.  
 Working with new candidate to plan an onsite visit.  

• Community Wellness Screenings:  
 More information is coming soon. The screenings are tentatively set for the second and third 

week of September.  
 This will be worked on further after the groundbreaking ceremony.  


	TAB A - 06.29.23 Regular Board Meeting MINUTES - FINAL
	TAB B - 07.12.23 SPECIAL Board Meetng MINUTES - FINAL
	TAB C - 07.18.23 SPECIAL Board Meeting MINUTES - FINAL
	TAB D - Almanor Foundantion and SHD Agreement - Draft 7.27.23
	TAB E - Review of DBE Contract Status and Boldt General C and R 7.27.23
	TAB F - Signage Bid 7.27.23
	TAB G - Add-Service for CEQA NEPA Consultant 7.27.23
	TAB H - June 2023 Financial Report 7.27.23
	TAB I - SHD New CAH Board Updates 7.27.23
	TAB J - CEO Report 7.27.23
	TAB K - CNO Report 7.27.23
	TAB L.a - No Compliance Report Submitted
	TAB L.b - No IT Report Submitted
	TAB L.c - HR Job List and July 2023 Newsletter
	TAB L.d - Marketing and PR Report July 2023
	Current Projects Update July 2023
	Seneca won first place in this year’s 4th of July Parade!
	 General Marketing
	 Provider Recruitment
	 Working on back-end website updates, and position description updates as well as scheduling social media posts.
	 Working with new candidate to plan an onsite visit.


